IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

)

ROBERT E. HENDRIX,

Appellant,

FILED SID J. WHITE OCT 26 1992 CLERK, SURBEME COURT,

Chief Deputy Clerk

CASE NO.

79,04**8**y_

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR LAKE COUNTY FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES B. GIBSON PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

MICHAEL S. BECKER ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER Florida Bar No. 0267082 112-A Orange Avenue Daytona Beach, Florida 32114 (904)252-3367

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On September 18, 1990, the Grand Jury in and for Lake County, returned an Indictment charging Appellant with two counts of conspiracy to commit first degree murder in violation of Sections 777.04 and 782.04(1)(a), Florida Statutes (1989), two counts of first degree murder, in violation of Section 782.04(1)(a), Florida Statutes (1989), and one count of burglary of a dwelling while armed, in violation of Section 810.02(1) and 810.02(2)(b), Florida Statutes (1989). (R 3249-3250) Appellant filed five separate motions to declare the death penalty statute unconstitutional. (R 3335-3357, 3358-3361, 3367-3371, 3382-3395, 3397-3417) These motions were all denied. (R 3552-3554) Appellant also filed a suggestion of disgualification of the presiding judge pursuant to Section 38.02, Florida Statutes

(1989). (R 3448-3449) The trial court denied this motion as being legally insufficient. (R 2797, 3552-3554) Appellant filed a motion to strike the jury panel on the grounds that it was selected in a racially discriminatory manner. (R 3467-3487) This motion was also denied. (R 3552-3554)

Appellant proceeded to jury trial on September 9 - 23, 1991, with the Honorable Jerry Lockett, Circuit Judge, presiding. (R 1-2537) Following deliberations, the jury returned verdicts finding Appellant guilty as charged on all five counts. (R 2532-2534, 3721-3725) Shortly thereafter, the penalty phase portion of Appellant's trial was conducted. (R 2601-2747) Following deliberations, the jury returned verdicts unanimously recommending death on each of the murder counts. (R 2747, 3737-3738) Appellant filed a timely motion for new trial. (R 3777-3779) This motion was denied. (R 3150)

On November 4, 1991, Appellant again appeared before Judge Lockett for sentencing. (R 3147-3237) Judge Lockett sentenced Appellant to death for each of the murder convictions, thirty years in prison on each of the conspiracy convictions and life imprisonment on the burglary conviction. (R 3226-3235, 3833-3849) Judge Lockett then filed his written findings of fact in support of the imposition of the death penalty. (R 3851-3858) The record also reflects two orders requiring Appellant to make restitution in the amount of \$13,267. (R 3859-3860)

Appellant filed a timely notice of appeal on November 30, 1991. (R 3884-3885) Appellant was adjudged insolvent and

the Office of the Public Defender was appointed to represent him on appeal. (R 3881-3883)

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

A: GUILT PHASE

In November 1988, Elmer Scott was prosecuted for armed burglary and petit theft in Lake County. (R 1131) A plea bargain was reached whereby Scott was allowed to plead no contest to a reduced charge of simple burglary, adjudication was withheld and he was placed on community control for two years. (R 1133) As a condition of the plea agreement, Scott had to truthfully testify against his co-defendant. (R 1133) After the plea agreement was reached, Scott gave a deposition to the Assistant State Attorney. (R 1136) Prior to this, the Assistant State Attorney did not have sufficient evidence to charge Scott's accomplice. (R 1136) However, after Scott's statement was completed, the State Attorney's Office filed an information charging Appellant with armed burglary. (R 1137, 1142) In the opinion of the prosecutors, the case against Appellant rested solely on the testimony of Elmer Scott. (R 1138, 1144-1145) The prosecutor made a formal plea offer to Appellant that in return for a plea the State would agree to a four year prison sentence followed by five years probation. (R 1146) This plea offer was still pending on August 28, 1990. (R 1146)

In the summer of 1990, Appellant lived with his girlfriend, Denise Turbyville at her mother's house. (R 1501, 1402) Denise knew about the pending burglary charge and also knew that Appellant had been offered a plea bargain of four years in prison followed by five years probation. (R 1501-1502)

Appellant told her that Elmer Scott was the only evidence that the State had against him. (R 1503) In early June 1990, Appellant told Denise that he would do whatever it took to keep Elmer from testifying against him, so that he would not have to go back to prison. (R 1503-1504) Throughout that summer, (R 1504) Appellant told Denise he was willing to kill Scott. Appellant discussed with Denise several possible ways of killing Scott. (R 1511-1513) Appellant once told Denise he could stop Scott on his way home from work by pretending that his car was broken down. (R 1511) When Scott stopped, Appellant would shoot (R 1511) However, Appellant rejected this option because him. Scott's wife, Michelle would probably be in the car with him. (R 1511) Another time, Appellant told Denise that she could drop him off down the road from Scott's house and Appellant would act like his car broke down and ask to use the phone. (R 1512) Appellant would then go into the bathroom, put on a mask and gloves and come out and kill Scott. (R 1512) Appellant said that if Michelle was there, he would have to kill her too. (R 1512-1513) Still another time Appellant mentioned cutting the brake line to Scott's truck, but declined this option since Michelle drove the truck most of the time. (R 1513) At Appellant's request, Denise made several phone calls to friends in an attempt to obtain a throw away gun. (R 1514-1515)

In the weeks leading up the murder, Appellant told several friends that he was going to prevent Elmer from testifying against him by killing him. (R 1364-1367, 1386)

Appellant attempted to secure a gun from several friends. (R 1229, 1888, 1991) Denise told two of her friends that she was going to drive the car to assist Appellant in killing Elmer Scott. (R 1868-1871, 1893-1895)

On the morning of August 27, 1990, Appellant got up and left the house alone. (R 1523) Appellant was gone all day until about 4:30 p.m. (R 1523) When Appellant arrived home, he had a gun with him. (R 1523) Appellant took some empty toilet paper rolls with tissue stuffed inside and used black electrical tape to wrap this around the gun. (R 1524-1525) Appellant left and returned about a half an hour later, and told Denise he had test fired the gun. (R 1525) Appellant said the gun was too loud so he tried to silence it. (R 1526) Appellant seemed resigned to the fact that he would be going to jail the next day when he went to court. (R 1425-1529) That evening, some friends called Appellant and asked him to go out, but Appellant said no that he was just going to stay in with Denise since he was going to jail the next day. (R 1529) A few friends did come over and sat around with Appellant and Denise and smoked some marijuana. (R 1530) Appellant and Denise went into their bedroom about 10:00 p.m. (R 1531) About a half an hour later, they heard Denise's mother's car pull into the driveway. (R 1531, 1406) Denise's mother went to bed immediately. (R 1406, 1531) At about 11:00 p.m., Appellant told Denise to get ready that they were going to the Scott's. (R 1537) Although Appellant had talked about killing Elmer for some time, Denise really did not take him

seriously until that day, when he started to get ready. (R 1535, 1537)

Denise drove Appellant's car across the county line and dropped him off near Elmer's house. (R 1540) Appellant had fixed up a mask to wear, wire gloves and a baseball cap. (R 1536-1537) After she dropped Appellant off, Denise drove to the county line and pulled off to the side of the road. (R 1544) While she waited in the car, Denise heard approximately six gun shots. (R 1544) Several minutes later, Appellant came up to the car and got in and told her, "Don't look, just go." (R 1545) Denise never looked at Appellant but drove straight home. (R 1547) When they arrived home, they did not turn on any lights. (R 1547) Appellant took a shower and afterwards went out back and burned his clothes. (R 1547) When they came back inside the bedroom, Appellant told Denise what happened at the trailer. (R 1548)

Appellant said he knocked on the door and Michelle invited him in. (R 1549) Elmer was in the bathroom, shaving, and Michelle said he would be out in a few minutes. (R 1549) When Elmer came out, Appellant asked to use the bathroom. (R 1549) When Appellant returned, Elmer was sitting in the chair in the living room. (R 1549) Appellant shot Elmer in the head. (R 1549) Michelle came at Appellant and tried to fight him. (R 1549) Appellant saw a knife, grabbed it and cut Michelle's neck. (R 1550) After Elmer was shot, Appellant hit him in the head with the gun and shattered the handle. (R 1550) To make sure

that Elmer was dead, Appellant stabbed him. (R 1550) When Appellant shot Elmer, he allegedly told him, "I'll see you in hell." (R 1550)

Juan Perez lived with his parents in the home next to Elmer and Michelle Scott. (R 2047-2048) On the evening of August 27, 1990, Perez was at home watching the late news. (R 2049) At some point, Perez turned off the TV and went into the bedroom to get ready for bed. (R 2050) The windows and the back door were opened and Perez was the only one in the house that was (R 2051) While in the bathroom, Perez heard a commotion awake. going on next door at the Scott's. (R 2052) Perez heard several loud bangs like someone hitting the wall. (R 2053) Perez got dressed and walked out the back door towards the Scott's trailer. (R 2053) When Perez got to the fence which separated his yard from the Scott's trailer, he heard loud voices arguing. (R 2055) Perez heard Michelle yell, "No" several times and also heard a voice yell, "Shut up." (R 2055-2056) The voice was a man's voice but not Elmer's and Perez did not recognize it. (R 2057) The shades to the windows of the Scott trailer were drawn and the lights were on so Perez could only see shadows. (R 2060) Perez got scared and went back inside the house and went to his bedroom window. (R 2060) Perez could hear an argument but could not see anything going on. (R 2061) Perez then went to his mother's bedroom window to see if he could see anything from there. (R 2062) While there, Perez saw the door to the Scott's trailer open and a man walked out. (R 2063-2064) The man was heavy-set

with blonde hair and a beard wearing pants and a button shirt and a baseball cap. (R 2064) The man had shoulder-length hair. (R 2065) The man walked down the driveway, got to the gate, exited and closed the gate behind him. (R 2068)

The bodies of Elmer and Michelle Scott were discovered on August 28, 1990, at approximately 6:00 p.m. (R 948-949) There were no signs of forced entry at their trailer. (R 953) An autopsy was performed on each of the bodies on the following day. (R 1044) Elmer Scott had one bullet wound to his cheek which entered his mouth and was retrieved from the back of his (R 1046-1049) This shot was not fatal and would not throat. have rendered him unconscious. (R 1049) Scott also suffered multiple lacerations to the scalp and multiple fractures to the skull beneath these lacerations. (R 1049-1050) It is possible that Scott was rendered unconscious from these blows. (R 1050) A piece of metal was found within the muscles in the scalp area. (R 1049) Scott also had three stab wounds to the left side of his neck. (R 1057) Both carotid arteries were severed. (R 1057) These wounds would have caused almost immediate unconsciousness. There were no defensive wounds on Elmer's body. (R (R 1058) 1085) The autopsy performed on Michelle Scott revealed a laceration to the top of her head. (R 1067) There was a bullet wound behind her left ear and one to the left side of her eye and one to her right leg. (R 1067) She also suffered multiple knife wounds to the back of the neck, chest, left breast, left arm, left side of the back and on her hands wrists and forearms. (R

1067) Neither bullet wound to the head would have rendered Michelle immediately unconscious. (R 1070) Michelle received approximately thirty-one stab wounds. (R 1073) While no one wound could be termed fatal, the cause of death for Michelle was that she bled to death from a combination of all her wounds. (R 1083)

Appellant was arrested at his home, at approximately 4:30 a.m. on August 29, 1990. (R 1411) A few hours after he was arrested, Appellant called Denise and told her to just tell the police that he and Denise were at home in bed. (R 1560) A couple of days later, Denise went to the State Attorney's Office and gave a sworn statement in which she lied. (R 1560) Denise was arrested on September 5, 1990. (R 1559) Denise has given four separate statements under oath. (R1631) Although she claimed that she was telling the truth at trial, she admitted that she lied in each of the previous statements. (R 1634, 1641) When she told Appellant that she was subpoenaed to testify in front of the Grand Jury, Appellant told her to keep her mouth shut. (R 1571) Denise has pled guilty to two counts of second degree murder, two counts of conspiracy to commit murder, one count of armed burglary and one count of perjury and has received a total of 75 years in prison. (R 1568) As part of this plea bargain, she was required to tell the truth. (R 1569)

Roger LaForce was incarcerated in the Lake County Jail in October of 1990. (R 1169) LaForce was placed in a cell with Appellant. (R 1172) Appellant told him that he was in jail for

two counts of murder but that he had made sure the State only had circumstantial evidence. (R 1174) Appellant told LaForce that Elmer had been shot once but did not mention any stabbing. He also said that Elmer's wife was an informant for the Sheriff's office and that she was shot three times and stabbed thirteen (R 1177-1178) Appellant told LaForce that Elmer was times. going to testify against him in a burglary case and that if he had testified Appellant would go to prison and lose his girlfriend. (R 1178) Appellant could not let that happen so he decided to kill him. (R 1178) Appellant also said that he had to make it look like a revenge killing for Elmer's wife being an informant. (R 1178) Appellant told LaForce that he went to the trailer in Sorrento. (R 1179) Appellant said there were apparently two witness, one who said he had a mask on and another who said he had a hat on. (R 1179) However, Appellant said that he didn't wear a hat and didn't need a mask to go into his Appellant told LaForce that Elmer was cousin's house. (R 1179) hit on the back of the head with the gun and a trigger stuck in the back of his head. (R 1180) LaForce approached the State Attorney with the information and asked about making a deal, but the State Attorney refused. (R 1182) LaForce accepted this and gave a statement anyway. (R 1182)

Appellant had prior convictions for petit theft, dealing in stolen property, burglary, and grand theft. (R 2605) Dr. Manuel Leal, performed the autopsies on Michelle and Elmer (R 2606) Elmer Scott was first shot, then hit over the Scott. head and finally stabbed. (R 2610) He suffered approximately ten lacerations to his head and was likely unconscious very soon after the blows to his head. (R 2611) Elmer would have died even if his throat had not been cut. (R 2611) Michelle Scott was killed after Elmer was killed and was alert and awake at the time she was stabbed. (R 2613-2614) Michelle Scott had thirtyone stab wounds and could have lost consciousness before her (R 2615, 2618) The entire episode probably took from death. three to five minutes. (R 2626) Many of the superficial stab wounds could have occurred after Michelle lost consciousness. (R 2627)

Dr. Philip M. Tell, a licensed psychologist and an associate professor of psychiatry at the University of Central Florida testified that he conducted an evaluation of Appellant in August of 1983 when Appellant was sixteen years old. (R 2634, 2637-2639) Appellant had been charged with theft of a gun and referred to him for a psychological evaluation. (R 2640) Dr. Tell administered a battery of tests which revealed that Appellant was in the middle range of intellectual functioning. (R 2643) There was no evidence of any learning disability. (R

2643) Dr. Tell determined that Appellant saw himself as a child who felt abused. (R 2644) He was angry and hostile and did not trust people. (R 2644) Appellant saw his environment as threatening and punishing and was afraid he was going to be hurt. (R 2644) Dr. Tell diagnosed Appellant as having a passiveaggressive personality disorder characterized by lots of anger and aggression which is expressed only indirectly. (R 2645) Appellant was impulsive and acts out and tries to get people angry. (R 2645) Appellant had poor self image and a real strong feeling of inferiority. (R 2645) Dr. Tell determined that the death of Appellant's older brother, several years prior, was a very traumatic experience in Appellant's life. (R 2645) Appellant was very close to his brother and after his brother died, Appellant could not talk to his father about this. (R 2646) Appellant was afraid of his father and Appellant's father acknowledged that he tended to take out his frustrations on Appellant. (R 2646) Appellant was not psychotic. (R 2649) However, Appellant felt an enormous amount of guilt and continued to get into trouble in an effort to destroy himself. (R 2648) Dr. Tell recommended Appellant and his family get involved in intensive family psychotherapy. (R 2650) Dr. Tell had two sessions with the family and felt that they were making progress. (R 2651)

Dr. Charles Paskewicz, a psychologist, testified that he read through Dr. Tell's records and interviewed Appellant. (R 2659) For three years after Appellant's brother's death,

Appellant was in a learning disability class and did better than expected. (R 2661) However, for the next three years, Appellant did much worse and his schooling was marked by poor attendance, hostility to teachers, swearing, name calling, and conduct and attitude problems. (R 2661) After talking with Appellant, Dr. Paskewicz learned that during these three years Appellant's father had been severely beating him. (R 2662) This probably caused Appellant's anger and hostility. (R 2663) Dr. Paskewicz discussed with Appellant his brother's death. This did not seem to be much of a problem for him. (R 2663) However, Appellant was very angry with his father. (R 2663) Appellant told Dr. Paskewicz that there was no follow up counseling after his interview with Dr. Tell. (R 2664) In Dr. Paskewicz opinion, without counseling, there could be a problem acting out behavior. (R 2664)

Appellant's father testified that while Appellant was growing up, he worked long hours, sometimes sixteen hours per day. (R 2683-2684) He acknowledged that he, his wife and Appellant went to counseling with Dr. Tell. (R 2687) Although further counseling was recommended, they did not go. (R 2687) Appellant's sister, Doris, testified that Appellant was eight years old when his older brother, Gary, died. (R 2672) Appellant was very close to his brother. (R 2674) Doris testified that her father was very tough on the boys in the family and beat them with belts. (R 2675) She acknowledged that her father had a short temper and that all the children were

afraid of their father. (R 2675-2676) Doris recalls an incident wherein her father severely beat Appellant. (R 2677) As recent as two years ago, her father pulled a knife on Appellant and threatened to cut him into little pieces. (R 2679-2680) Linda Lavoie, Appellant's sister, testified that Appellant was a good brother and a wonderful uncle to her daughter. (R 2690)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

POINT I: Section 38.02, Florida Statutes (1989) provides grounds for disqualification of a judge when such judge has previously been associated with in any capacity with the case or controversy at issue. This rule is not dependent upon a judge actually having an interest in the outcome of the case. In the instant case Judge Lockett was previously associated by counsel for the codefendant in an advisory capacity. This occurred before Judge Lockett assumed the bench. Because of the codefendant's status as the primary State witness in the case against Appellant, Judge Lockett's previous close association with the codefendant's case was ample grounds for disqualification.

POINT II: The selection process used in Lake County for summoning jurors is racially discriminatory. By using the voter registration rolls, African Americans are underrepresented in the potential jury pools. Based on the available statistical information, African Americans are underrepresented from forty to fifty-five percent in the jury selection process. This racially discriminatory process violated Appellant's right to a fair trial.

POINT III: The trial court erred in overruling Appellant's motions for mistrial based on improper prosecutorial comments during opening statements and closing statements. The objectionable remarks included the prosecutor's continual and persistent use of the word "we" in describing what the police did

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