### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JAN 29 1993

SID J. WHITE

ELERK, SUPREME COURT	
ByChief Deputy Clerk	

ROBERT EUGENE HENDRIX,

Appellant,

**v.** .

CASE NO. 79,048

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIFTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR LAKE COUNTY, FLORIDA

### ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE INITIAL BRIEF OF CROSS-APPELLANT

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

MARGENE A. ROPER ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FL. BAR. #302015 210 N. Palmetto Avenue Suite 447 Daytona Beach, Florida 32114 (904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE/ CROSS-APPELLANT

##

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

1. The trial judge's ruling that he was not disqualified from presiding over the trial in this cause should have been challenged on a writ of prohibition and not by appeal from a final judgment of conviction and sentence of death.

2. Appellant, a Caucasian, has no standing under the Equal Protection Clause to complain that the jury selection process resulted in the under-representation of African-Americans in the venire. Appellant has failed to demonstrate a sufficient disparity to support a sixth amendment claim of underrepresentation. There is no systematic exclusion where the venire is randomly selected from color blind voter registration lists.

3. The prosecutor's remarks did not imply that he had personal knowledge of the case and did not lead the jury to believe that other evidence, unavailable to them, justified his belief. The jury was fully instructed as to the reasonable doubt standard and the court instructed the jury to disregard the prosecutor's comment that when this court wrote the reasonable doubt instruction they had cases like this in mind. In light of the substantial evidence the exhortation not to let Hendrix get away with murder was not improper. None of the alleged errors did substantial harm or caused material prejudice in view of the overwhelming evidence of guilt.

4. There is nothing in the record to indicate that the jury was able to hear the victim's father's remark to Hendrix as he left the stand "You did it didn't you." Any possible damage was

- 19 -

avoided by a curative instruction to disregard Mr. Scott's emotional outburst. The record in this case established to a moral certainty that Hendrix killed the Scotts and there is no reasonable possibility the verdict would have been different in the absence of this error. This issue is procedurally barred, in any event, as the only ground of objection to this witness' testimony raised below was that of relevance.

5. Photographs depicting different views of the victims' bodies were not gruesome and were relevant to assist the medical examiner and the trial court did not abuse its discretion in admitting the photographs into evidence. The purpose of the videotape was not to demonstrate the victims' injuries.

6. The trial court did not err in denying appellant's motion for judgment of acquittal with regard to the conspiracy counts of the indictment as the co-conspirator knew of Hendrix' plan and assisted him in executing it, fully intending that two murders be committed. Each murder was separately conceived of and two counts of conspiracy were proven.

 The statutory aggravating factor of an especially heinous, atrocious or cruel murder is not unconstitutionally vague. This court has applied consistent limiting instructions.
It was not argued below that the heinous, atrocious, or cruel instruction was unconstitutionally vague and such complaint is waived.

9. Maynard v. Cartwright, 486 U.S. 356 (1988), is inapposite to Florida's death penalty sentencing.

- 20 -

10. Even if the jury was improperly instructed as to the heinous, atrocious and cruel and cold, calculated and premeditated aggravating factors, it must be presumed that the judge followed the limiting constructions of this court.

11. Error in such instructions was harmless. This court could find such factors applicable for the first time on appeal. 12. A crime involving the use or threat of use of force should count as a prior violent felony even though it does not result in a conviction but an adjudication of delinquency as the violent behavior is what should be looked at, not the legal disposition of the charge. I THE CLAIM THAT THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANT'S SUGGESTION OF DISQUALIFICATION IS WAIVED.

Prior to trial defense counsel filed a suggestion of disqualification alleging that while Judge Lockett was in private practice, Ms. Michelle Morley, counsel for co-defendant Alma Denise Turbyville, (who pled guilty and testified against Hendrix) consulted with him concerning her representation of Turbyville and he reviewed the evidence against Turbyville and rendered advice to Ms. Morley (R 3448). The suggestion concluded that such prior connection with the case created a conflict of interest or the appearance thereof and Judge Lockett should disqualify himself, especially in view of the fact that this case involved two counts of first degree murder and the state sought the death penalty. The defense cited the case of *State ex. rel. Ambler v. Hocker*, 15 So. 581 (Fla. 1894), in support of the suggestion (R 3449).

The state filed a response to the suggestion, arguing that it was legally deficient. Its position was that the requirements of section 38.02, Florida Statutes (1991), pursuant to which the suggestion was made, had not been met. Section 38.02 indicates that a judge should be disqualified from hearing a case if he is a party, or related to a party, or related to an attorney for a party, has an interest in the outcome, or is a material witness in the case. Nowhere in the statute is any mention of "conflict of interest" as grounds for disqualification (R 3488-89).

At the hearing on the suggestion defense counsel indicated that the matter had been brought to his attention by Ms. Morley (R 2294). Counsel was under the impression that she had received authorization from the court to consult with another attorney and had consulted with Judge Lockett at great length and reviewed her files with him. Counsel argued that the situation presented an "appearance" of a conflict of interest, which should be avoided in a death penalty case. The defense stated that there was *no* suggestion that Judge Lockett could not be fair or impartial and it was *not* proceeding on that ground, but under the statute cited in *Hocker* which stands for the proposition that any prior connection with a case is a basis for disqualification (R 2794-96). "This type of disqualification is not a matter involving bias or prejudice." (R 2796).

Judge Lockett accepted the factual representations in the suggestion as correct but found the suggestion to be legally insufficient (R 2797).

Prior to the testimony of Alma Denise Turbyville in the guilt phase Judge Lockett stated for the record that he had never represented Turbyville and had never seen her before. Ms. Morley had talked to him once about Turbyville testifying before the grand jury. He gave her his opinion. He was in private practice then (R 1495). He was not paid for the consultation and never asked to be paid. He did not know if Turbyville was aware that Ms. Morley had sought a second opinion (R 1496). He indicated that he would require Ms. Morley to be present for a deposition and that he would voluntarily submit himself to one (R 1942).

Turbyville remembered being told not to divulge what she ultimately testified to before the grand jury (R 1499). She testified that she did not think her attorney sought a second opinion (R 1589).

Michelle Morley testified, after the defense had rested, that she represented Turbyville who had been subpoenaed before the grand jury two to three weeks after her arrest. She did not know she was the subject of an investigation by the grand jury was indicted (R 2504-05). It was her until after she understanding that Denise was to testify against Hendrix (R 2505). The night before the grand jury met Denise told her more than she had previously told her. She felt it was beyond her capability. The Public Defender recommended that she talk to Judge Lockett. At that time he was in private practice and not on the bench (R 2506). She went to his office and spoke to him shortly before Denise was to appear before the grand jury. His partner Ms. Blair was present. Judge Lockett was not paid for the consultation. She disclosed to them everything her client had told her. They had agreed it would be kept confidential. Then-attorney Lockett advised her to instruct Denise not to testify before the grand jury and to invoke the Fifth Amendment. That is what she did (R 2508). She told her client she had consulted with him and relayed his advice (R 2510). On another occasion she discussed with him information her client had disclosed that might be helpful to the state. Tactically, she wanted to know whether she should disclose it to the state or use it to her client's advantage (R 2512). She was court appointed (R 2508). At some point the case against Hendrix was so strong that the state decided it may not need Denise to testify and they

- 24 -

put her on notice that the death penalty was a possibility. Attorney Lockett indicated only that he would be *interested* in associating with her. She moved the court to appoint associate counsel to assist her (R 2512). By the time her motion came before the court Judge Lockett had been nominated or had applied for the judgeship and the court was reluctant to appoint him, knowing that at some point he may have to withdraw (R 2513). Mr. Graves was appointed in March, 1991 (R 2512). After Graves was appointed to assist her she does not recall further discussing the case with Judge Lockett (R 2513).

The court later made another statement for the record regarding the suggestion. It seemed to Judge Lockett that the ground alleged was that he knew too much about what Denise was going to testify to before the grand jury (R 2525). In addition to his initial ruling Judge Lockett stated that he thought the defendant had waived that ground by asking him to read the grand jury minutes, which he did, which included Denise's entire testimony. The defense responded that that was not the nature of their motion. They were not alleging bias or anything improper. The motion was based solely on Judge Lockett's prior connection with the case (R 2526).

Section 38.02, Florida Statutes (1991), states that "any such order declaring a judge qualified shall not be subject to collateral attack but shall be subject to review by the court having appellate jurisdiction of the cause in connection with which the order was entered." Laws 1951, Chapter 26890 §1 rewrote this last sentence of the section. It formerly read "Any such order

- 25 -

declaring a judge qualified shall be assignable as error and shall be subject only to review by the supreme court on writ of error, if the cause be one at law, and by appeal, if the cause be one in chancery, but such an order shall not be subject to collateral Laws 1963, Chapter 63-559, §6, deleted the words "by attack." the supreme court" from the end of the penultimate sentence and this present final While the present inserted sentence. provision makes reference to "review" by "the court having appellate jurisdiction" the language of the statute does not authorize the raising of such issue on direct appeal from a final judgment. Historically, only an order of disgualification duly entered, not an order refusing to approve a suggestion for disqualification in a case was subject to being assigned as error and reviewed upon an appeal from that order or from the final decree in the cause. The statute of 1933 (chapter 16053, section 4155(2), C.G.L. 1934, Supplement) forbid collateral attacks and assignments of error on appeal that undertook to challenge the qualifications of a judge who had affirmatively held himself not disgualified and who, without the intervention of any direct attack on his right to further proceed with the cause to a final decree, had so proceeded and had duly entered a final decree in such cause. State v. Sarasota County, 118 Fla. 629, 159 So. 797, 800 The present language of section 38.02 is even more (1935). restrictive. Whether a judge is disqualified to hear suits should be tested by mandamus or prohibition proceedings and not by appeals from final decrees. State v. Sarasota County, supra. Cf. In re Florida Conference Association of Seventh Day Adventists, 128 Fla. 677,

175 So. 715 (1937). This is especially so in a capital case where the defense has absolutely no reason to suspect bias on the part of the judge, can take its chances and then complain upon an adverse judgment and sentence that it should all be done again with a different judge even though it can point to no ruling affected by any past association of the judge. That section 38.02 should be so construed is evident from section 38.06, Florida Statutes (1991) which states "where, on a suggestion of disgualification the judge enters an order declaring himself qualified, the orders, judgments and decrees entered therein by the said judge shall not be void and shall not be subject to collateral attack." The state would submit that appellant has untimely chosen the wrong remedy and should not be heard to complain.

Section 38.02, Florida Statutes (1991) also provides:

In any cause ... any party ... may at any time before final judgment ... show by a suggestion filed ... that the judge before whom the cause is pending, or some person related to said judge is a party thereto, or is interested in the result thereof, or that said judge is related to an attorney ... of record, ... or that said judge is a material witness for or against one of the parties.

The grounds for disqualification under section 38.02 are very narrow: 1) the judge or his relative is a party; 2) the judge or his relative is interested in the result; 3) the judge is related to one of the attorneys or; 4) the judge is a material witness. No allegations were ever made that Judge Lockett was a party, was interested in the result, was related to one of the
attorneys or was a material witness. Thus, no grounds were present which would have required Judge Lockett to disqualify himself. A suggestion of disqualification of a trial judge is properly overruled where it is not based on any *statutory* ground. *See, Baskin v. State ex rel. Tracy,* 115 Fla. 392, 155 So. 655 (1934). The appearance of a conflict of "interest" is certainly not a statutory ground.

The only possible allegation which would have tended to support the ground of interest in the result was the claim that Judge Lockett consulted with Ms. Morley pursuant to court authorization, which would imply he was to receive some compensation (R 2794-96). This allegation proved not to be true, however, as Ms. Morley testified that Judge Lockett was not appointed to the case (R 2513). He was never paid for the consultation and never asked to be paid (R 2508; 1496). He had no expectation of future monies. He essentially dispensed free legal advice to a fellow attorney and had no interest in the It has long been held that an interest sufficient to case. disqualify a judge must be a pecuniary or property interest in the action or its result. State ex rel. Amos v. Chillingworth, 93 Fla. 1107, 113 So. 563 (1927). The interest must be direct and immediate, not uncertain or speculative and a mere interest in an abstract question that may be involved in the cause is insufficient. A judge is expressly authorized to inquire into and determine the facts, and is expected and required to disqualify himself only if he is, in fact, interested in the result of the cause. State ex rel. Cannon v. Churchwell, 195 So. 2d

- 28 -

599 (Fla. 4th DCA 1967). It is clear that there can be no "appearance" of conflict of interest where there is no interest at all.

State ex rel. Ambler v. Hocker, 34 Fla. 25, 15 So. 581 (1894), was decided long ago and the ground for disqualification discussed in Hocker, and its progeny, namely, a prior attorneyclient relationship, is not an enumerated ground for disqualification in section 38.02, which supercedes the Hocker decision.

There was no prior attorney-client relationship in the present case, in any event. The most Judge Lockett did was to give his opinion to a colleague. Judge Lockett never met Turbyville and was never paid by her. He never associated and was not court appointed to her case. Denise was only a witness and not a party to this case. The "supplemental" matters or proceedings in *Hocker* that former counsel was precluded from presiding over as judge were proceedings to enforce execution levied upon property, as the judge was counsel of record for the plaintiff in the suit in which execution was issued. Thus, there was a direct relationship between the earlier and the later case, which is not true in the present case. The separate trial of Hendrix is not a matter supplemental to Turbyville's negotiated plea but is a distinct proceeding.

Judge Lockett noted that it seemed the real complaint was that he knew too much about what Turbyville was going to testify to before the grand jury. This situation is no different than the situation where a judge presides over the trial of a co-

- 29 -

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